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COMINTEL CORPORATION BHD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 January 2020. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are described in Note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial 
year. 
 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 GROUP  COMPANY  
 RM’000  RM’000 
    
Profit/(Loss) for the financial year 12,502 (8,649) 
   
Attributable to:   
Owners of the Company 14,266  (8,649) 
Non-controlling interests (1,764) - 

 12,502   (8,649) 
 

In the opinion of the directors, the financial results of the Group and of the Company during 
the financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature, other than those disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
The directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year ended 31 
January 2020. 
 
 
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year. 
 
 
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
 
The Company did not issue any new shares or debentures during the financial year. 
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OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 
 
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the 
financial year. 
 
 
SHARE BUY-BACK 
 
At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company held on 3 July 2019, the shareholders 
granted an authority for the share buy-back of up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share 
capital of the Company. This authority will expire and be renewed at the forthcoming AGM of 
the Company. 
 
During the financial year, the Company has not purchased any of its own shares, retained its 
shares as treasury shares or cancelled its shares. 
 
 
DIRECTORS  
 
The directors of the Company who held office during the financial year until the date of this 
report are: - 
 
Tan Sri Dato’ Samshuri Bin Arshad 
Leng Keng Hok @ Lim Keng Hock 
Lee Chai Bee (f) 
Wong Mun Wai 
Chong Chun Chieh   
 
In accordance with the Article 119 of the Constitution, Mr. Wong Mun Wai and Mr. Chong 
Chun Chieh retire by rotation from the Board of Directors at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
 
 
DIRECTORS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 
 
The directors of the Company’s subsidiaries who held office during the financial year until the 
date of this report, excluding those who are already listed above are:- 
 
Teoh Kok Cheng  
Barry Lim Seng Wang 
Djoko Winarno 
Kuan Yew Teck 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND BENEFITS 
 
During and at the end of the financial year, the Company was not a party to any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in, 
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 
 
The directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in the 
ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year ended 
31 January 2020 as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company 
under Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016 were as follow: 
 

 Number of shares 
 At  

1.2.2019 
 

Acquired  
 

Disposed 
At 

31.1.2020 
THE COMPANY      
     
Direct interest     
Tan Sri Dato’ Samshuri Bin Arshad 500,000 - - 500,000 
Leng Keng Hok @ Lim Keng Hock 626,900 - - 626,900 
Lee Chai Bee (f) 30,000 - - 30,000 
     
Indirect interest      
Leng Keng Hok @ Lim Keng Hock 42,200,190 - - 42,200,190 
     
 
By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, the directors are also deemed to be 
interested in the shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest. 
 
None of the other directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any interest in 
the ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations. 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or 
become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount 
of remuneration received or due and receivable by directors shown in the notes to the financial 
statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or of its related 
corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 
director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a Company in which the 
director has a substantial financial interest. 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
The directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 29(d) to the financial statements. 
 
 
INDEMNIFYING DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 
 
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the 
financial year, for any person who is or has been the director, officer or auditor of the Group 
and of the Company. 
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SUBSIDIARIES 
 
The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
 
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
The auditors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements. 
 
 
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION  
 
(a)     Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the 

directors took reasonable steps: 
 

(i)     to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad 
debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts, and had satisfied themselves 
that there were no known bad debts to be written off and that adequate provision 
had been made for doubtful debts; and 

 
(ii)    to ensure that the current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as 

shown in the accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been 
written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise. 

 
(b)     At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 

(i)    which would require the write off of bad debts or render the amount of the 
provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or 

 
 (ii)    which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; or  
 
 (iii)   which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of 

assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; 
or 

 
 (iv)    not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements of the Group and of 

the Company which would render any amount stated in the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial statements misleading. 

 
(c)     At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 

 (i)     any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since 
the end of the financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or 

 
 (ii)    any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company which has 

arisen since the end of the financial year. 
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COMINTEL CORPORATION BHD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – 31 JANUARY 2020  
 
 
1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding.  
 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 8 to the financial 
statements. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the 
financial year. 

 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable approved Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRSs”) issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”), 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 
2016 in Malaysia. 

 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

3.1 Basis of accounting 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention and on a going concern basis. 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the directors to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. In addition, the 
directors are also required to exercise their judgement in the process of applying 
the accounting policies. The areas involving such judgements, estimates and 
assumptions are disclosed in Note 5. Although these estimates and assumptions are 
based on the directors’ best knowledge of events and actions, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 Basis of consolidation 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 

 
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group, i.e. the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its current ability to direct the 
entity’s relevant activities (power over the investee). 
 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that the Group has the 
practical ability to exercise (i.e. substantive rights) are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
 

The Group’s financial statements incorporate the results, cash flows, assets 
and liabilities of Comintel Corporation Bhd and all of its directly and 
indirectly controlled subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
effective date of acquisition, which is the date on which the Group 
effectively obtains control of the acquired business, until that control ceases. 
 
The non-controlling interests in the net assets and net results of consolidated 
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
 

Total comprehensive income (i.e. profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income) is attributed to the owners of the parent and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. 
 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result 
in the Group losing control are accounted for as transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners (i.e. equity transactions). The carrying amounts of 
the Group’s and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes 
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the parent. 
 

Upon loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group’s profit or loss is calculated 
as the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration received and 
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 
 

Investment in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of 
financial position at cost less any impairment losses, unless the investment is 
classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments excludes 
transaction costs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
(b) Translation of financial statements of foreign entities 

 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM using 
exchange rates at the reporting date. The components of shareholders’ equity 
are stated at historical value. 
 
Average exchange rates for the period are used to translate income and 
expense items of foreign operations. However, if exchange rates fluctuate 
significantly, the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 
 
All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in currency translation reserve, a separate 
component of equity. 
 
Any goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a 
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation 
and, as such, translated at the closing rate. 
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners 
of the parent company are reclassified to profit or loss. The cumulative 
amount of the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation that 
had been attributed to the non-controlling interests are derecognised, but 
without reclassification to profit or loss. The same applies in case of loss of 
control, joint control or significant influence. 
 
On the partial disposal without loss of control of a subsidiary that includes a 
foreign operation, the proportionate share of exchange differences 
accumulated in the separate component of equity are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests (they are not recognised in profit or loss). For any other 
partial disposal of foreign entity (i.e. associates or jointly controlled entities 
without loss of significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share 
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

(c) Business combinations  
 
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for all acquired 
businesses, whereby the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values (with few 
exceptions as required by MFRS 3 Business Combinations). 
 
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair 
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 
the assets transferred by the Group, the liabilities incurred by the Group to 
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
(c) Business combinations (continued) 

 
Acquisition-related costs (e.g. finder’s fees, consulting fees, administrative 
costs, etc.) are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are 
incurred and the services are received. 
 
On acquisition date, goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of 
consideration transferred, any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and 
acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if business combination achieved in stages) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. 
 
If, after appropriate reassessment, the amount as calculated above is 
negative, it is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase 
gain. 
 
At acquisition date, non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present 
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value 
or the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised 
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of 
measurement is made separately for each business combination. Other 
components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values, unless otherwise required by MFRS. 
 
The acquisition-date fair value of any contingent consideration is recognised 
as part of the consideration transferred by the Group in exchange for the 
acquiree. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that result 
from additional information obtained during the measurement period 
(maximum one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively against 
goodwill. Other changes resulting from events after the acquisition date are 
adjusted at each reporting date, only when the contingent consideration is 
classified as an asset or a liability, and the adjustment is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 
In a business combination achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair 
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. If any, 
changes in the value of the Group’s equity interest in the acquiree that have 
been previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss, if appropriate had that interest been disposed of directly. 
 

(d) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
All intragroup transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in 
full on consolidation. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.3 Property, plant and equipment  

 

Property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. All property, plant and 
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working 
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which they are located.  
 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced is 
derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated to write off the cost of 
the assets on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the assets.  
 
The useful economic life are as follows: 
 
Leasehold buildings 16 years  
Motor vehicles  5 years 
Plant and machinery   5 to 16 years 
Furniture, fittings and equipment  5 to 10 years 
 
Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is 
assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each 
financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is 
derecognised. 

  



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 20 - 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Leases 
 
The Group has applied MFRS 16 Leases using the modified retrospective 
approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised as 
an adjustment to retained earnings at 1 February 2019. Accordingly, the 
comparative information presented for 2019 has not been restated – i.e. it is 
presented, as previously reported under MFRS 117 Leases and related 
interpretations. 
 
Current financial year  
 
(a) Definition of a lease 

 
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: 
 

 the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be 
specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. 
If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not 
identified; 

 the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of use; and 

 the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer 
has this right when it has the decision-making rights that are most 
relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In 
rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset 
is used is predetermined, the customer has the right to direct the use of 
the asset if either the customer has the right to operate the asset; or the 
customer designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for 
what purpose it will be used.  

 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease 
component, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 
prices. However, for leases of properties in which the Group is a lessee, it 
has elected not to separate non-lease components and will instead account 
for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.4 Leases (continued) 

 
(b) Recognition and initial measurement  

 
(i) As a lessee 

 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the 
lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the respective Group entities’ incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Group entities use their incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate.  
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability 
comprise the following: 
 
 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any 

incentive receivable; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially 

measured using the index or rate at the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 

 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise; and  

 penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is 
reasonably certain not to terminate early. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.4 Leases (continued) 

 
(b) Recognition and initial measurement (continued) 

 
(i) As a lessee (continued) 

 
The Group excludes variable lease payments that linked to future 
performance or usage of the underlying asset from the lease liability. 
Instead, these payments are recognised in profit of loss in the period in 
which the performance or use occurs. 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 
 

(ii)  As a lessor 
 
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception 
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 
 
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of 
whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then 
the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. 
 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group 
applies MFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract based on 
the stand-alone selling prices. 
 
When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its 
interests in the head lease and the sublease separately. It assesses the 
lease classification of a sublease with reference to the right-of-use 
asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying 
asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Company 
applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sublease 
as an operating lease. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.4 Leases (continued) 

 
(c) Subsequent measurement   

 
(i) As a lessee  

 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-
line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
estimated useful lives of right-of-use asset are determined on the same 
basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-
of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease 
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a change in 
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-is-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero. 
 

(ii)  As a lessor 
 
The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases 
as income on straight-line basis over the lease term as part of 
“revenue”. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.4 Leases (continued) 

 
Previous financial year  
 
(d) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
Leases are classified as finance leases if substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. 
 
Assets and liabilities arising from finance lease contracts are initially 
recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum future 
lease rentals. 
 
After initial recognition, the depreciation policy applied is consistent with 
that for depreciable assets that are owned. As a result, the depreciation 
recognised is calculated in accordance with the useful life stated for 
property, plant and equipment (the Group does not hold leased intangible 
assets). In cases where there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will 
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
 
The interest element of rental obligations is charged to profit or loss over the 
period of the lease at a constant rate on the balance of finance lease 
obligations outstanding. 
 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Incentives to take out operating leases 
are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Provision is made in the statement of financial position for the present value 
of the onerous element of operating leases. This typically arises when the 
Group ceases to use premises and they are left vacant to the end of the lease 
or are sublet at rentals, which fall short of the amount payable by the Group 
under the lease. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.5 Impairment of non-financial assets  
 

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an 
annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units (“CGU”)).      
          
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and 
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units 
on a pro-rata basis.  
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are 
previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive 
income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 
       

3.6 Inventories  
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value after due 
provision is made for any obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost is determined on 
weighted average basis and is the aggregate cost of purchase and other incidentals 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present condition and location. 
 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.7 Financial instruments  
 

(a) Initial recognition and measurement 
 

The Group and the Company recognise a financial asset or a financial 
liability in the statement of financial position when, and only when, an entity 
in the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments. 

 

If a contract is a host financial liability or a non-financial host contract that 
contains an embedded derivative, the Group and the Company assess 
whether the embedded derivative shall be separated from the host contract 
on the basis of the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded 
derivative and the host contract at the date when the Group and the Company 
become a party to the contract. If the embedded derivative is not closely 
related to the host contract, it is separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a stand-alone derivative. The Group and the Company do 
not make a subsequent reassessment of the contract unless there is a change 
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the expected cash 
flows or when there is a reclassification of a financial liability out of the fair 
value through profit or loss category. Embedded derivatives in host financial 
assets are not separated. 

 
On initial recognition, all financial assets (including intra-group loans and 
advances) and financial liabilities (including intra-group payables and 
government loans at below market interest rates) are measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs if the financial asset or financial liability is not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. For instruments measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are expensed to profit or 
loss when incurred. 
 

(b) Derecognition of financial instruments 
 
For derecognition purposes, the Group and the Company first determine 
whether a financial asset or a financial liability should be derecognised in its 
entirety as a single item or derecognised part-by-part of a single item or of a 
group of similar items. 
 
A financial assets, whether as a single item or as a part, is derecognised 
when, and only when, the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire, or when the Group and the Company transfer the 
contractual rights to receive cash flows of the financial asset, including 
circumstances when the Group and the Company act only as a collecting 
agent of the transferee, and retain no significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset or no continuing involvement in the control 
of the financial asset transferred. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Derecognition of financial instruments (continued) 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is legally 
extinguished, which is either when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged or cancelled or expires. A substantial modification of the terms of 
an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. For 
this purpose, the Group and the Company consider a modification as 
substantial if the present value of the revised cash flows of the modified 
terms discounted at the original effective interest rate is different by 10% or 
more when compared with the carrying amount of the original liability. 
 

(c) Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets 
 
The Group and the Company recognise a regular-way purchase or sale of a 
quoted equity or debt instrument at trade date, which is the date the purchase 
or sale transaction is entered into, rather than recognising the forward 
contract between trade date and settlement date. 

 
(d) Financial assets  

 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, the Group and the Company 
classifies financial assets into three measurement categories, namely: (i) 
financial assets at amortised cost (“AC”); (ii) financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and (iii) financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”). The classification is based on the 
Group’s and the Company’s business model objective for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
instruments. 
 
After initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure financial 
assets, as follow: 

 
(i) Financial assets at AC 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if: (a) it is held within 
the Group’s and the Company’s business objective to hold the asset 
only to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest in principal outstanding. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(d) Financial assets (continued) 
 

(ii)  Financial assets at FVOCI 
A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if: (a) it is held within the 
Group’s and the Company’s business objective to hold the asset both 
to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial asset; and (b) 
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest in 
principal outstanding. 
 

(iii)  Financial asset at FVPL 
A financial asset is measured at FVPL if it is an equity investment, 
held for trading (including derivative assets) or if it does not meet any 
of the condition specified for the AC or FVOCI model. 

 
Other than financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, all 
other financial assets are subject to review for impairment in accordance 
with Note 3.7(h). 
 

(e) Financial liabilities 
 
After initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure all financial 
liabilities at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for: 
 
(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including 

derivatives that are liabilities) are measured at fair value. 
 
(ii)  Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does 

not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement 
approach applies. Paragraph 3.2.15 and 3.2.17 of MFRS 9 apply to the 
measurement of such financial liabilities. 
 

(iii)  Financial guarantee contracts issued, and commitments to provide 
loans at a below-market interest rate given, by the Group and the 
Company are measured at the higher of: (a) the amount of impairment 
loss determined; and (b) the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, the cumulative of income recognised in accordance with 
the principles in MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(f) Fair value measurement 

 
The fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is determined by 
reference to the quoted market price in an active market, and in the absence 
of an observable market price, by a valuation technique as described in Note 
3.19. 
 

(g) Recognition of gains and losses 
 
Fair value changes of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss when they 
arise. 
 
For financial assets mandatorily measured at FVOCI, interest income 
(calculated using the effective interest rate method), impairment losses, and 
exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. All other gains or 
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and retained in a fair 
value reserve. On derecognition of the financial assets, the cumulative gain 
or loss recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment. 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, interest 
income and interest expense are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss only 
when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, 
and through the amortisation process of the instrument. 
 

(h) Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group and the Company apply the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model 
of MFRS 9 to recognise impairment losses of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Except 
for trade receivables, a 12-month ECL is recognised in profit or loss on the 
date of origination or purchase of the financial assets. At the end of each 
reporting period, the Group and the Company assess whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk of a financial asset since its initial 
recognition or at the end of the prior period. Other than for financial assets 
which are considered to be of low risk grade, a lifetime ECL is recognised if 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
For trade receivables, the Group and the Company have availed the 
exception to the 12-month ECL requirement to recognise only lifetime ECL. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
The assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly is based on 
quantitative and qualitative information that include financial evaluation of 
the creditworthiness of the debtors or issuers of the instruments, ageing of 
receivables, defaults and past due amounts, past experiences with the 
debtors, current conditions and reasonable forecast of future economic 
conditions. For operational simplifications: (a) a 12-month ECL is 
maintained for financial assets which investment grades that are considered 
as low credit risk, irrespective of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly or not; and (b) credit risk is considered to have increase 
significantly if payments are more than 30 days past due if no other 
borrower-specific information is available without undue cost or effort. 
 
The ECL is measured using an unbiased and probability-weighted amount 
that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, discounted for 
the time value of money and applying reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date 
about past events, current conditions, and forecast of future economic 
conditions. The ECL for a financial asset (when assessed individually) or a 
group of financial assets (when assessed collectively) is measured at the 
present value of the probability-weighted expected cash shortfalls over life 
of the financial asset or group of financial assets. When a financial asset is 
determined as credit-impaired (based on objective evidence of impairment), 
the lifetime ECL is determined individually. 
 
For trade receivable, the lifetime ECL is determined at the end of each 
reporting period using a provision matrix. For each significant receivable, 
individual lifetime ECL is assessed separately. For significant receivables 
which are not impaired and for all other receivables, they are grouped into 
risk classes by type of customers and businesses, and the ageing of the 
receivables. Collective lifetime ECLs are determined using past loss rates, 
which are updated for effects of current conditions and reasonable forecasts 
for future economic conditions. In the event that the economic or industry 
outlook is expected to worsen, the past loss rates are increased to reflect the 
worsening economic conditions. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.8 Foreign currencies transactions and balances 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated and recorded at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the respective dates of transactions. At the end of 
each reporting period, foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are 
retranslated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the reporting 
date (i.e. the closing rate).  
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction (i.e. 
historical rate). Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is 
determined. 
 
Gains and losses arising from changes in exchange rates after the date of the 
transaction are recognised in profit or loss (except for loans and advances that 
form part of the net investment in a foreign operation and transactions entered into 
in order to hedge foreign currency risks of net investments in foreign operations). 
 
For loans and advances that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial 
statements of the parent Company and/ or the individual financial statements of the 
foreign operation. In the consolidated financial statements that include the foreign 
operation, the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss in the separate and/ or 
individual financial statements is reversed and recognised in the consolidated other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in an exchange translation reserve.  

 
3.9 Equity  

 
(a) Share capital 

 
Ordinary shares issued that carry no mandatory contractual obligation to 
deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial assets or 
financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Group and the Company, are classified as equity 
instruments. 
 
When ordinary shares and other equity instruments are issued in a public 
offering or in a rights issue to existing shareholders, they are recorded at the 
issue price. 
 
When ordinary shares and other equity instruments are issued as 
consideration transferred in a business combination or as settlement of an 
existing financial liability, they are measured at fair value at a date of the 
exchange transaction. 
 
Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction 
from retained profits in equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.9 Equity (continued) 
 
(b) Dividend distribution  

 
The Group and the Company establish a distribution policy whereby cash 
dividends can only be paid out of retained earnings. Other distributions, such 
as stock dividends and distribution in specie, may be paid out of any reserve 
to the extent that the utilisation is permitted by company laws and 
regulations. 
 
Distributions to holders of an equity instrument are debited directly in 
equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 
 
A dividend declared is recognised as a liability only after it has been 
appropriately authorised, which is the date when the Board of Directors 
declares an interim dividend, or in the case of a proposed final dividend, the 
date the shareholders of the Company approve the proposed final dividend in 
an annual general meeting of shareholders. For a distribution of non-cash 
assets to owners, the Group and the Company measure the dividend payable 
at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. 

 
3.10 Provisions 

 
Where, at reporting date, the Group and the Company has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group 
and the Company will settle the obligation, a provision is made in the statement of 
financial position. Provisions are made using best estimates of the amount required 
to settle the obligation and are discounted to present values using a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. Changes in estimates are reflected in profit or loss in the 
period they arise. 
 
Any reimbursement attributable to a recognised provision from a counter-party 
(such as an insurer) is not off-set against the provision but recognised separately as 
an asset when, and only when, the reimbursement is virtually certain.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.11 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose 
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group and the Company or a 
present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also 
arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised 
because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group and the Company do not 
recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial 
statements. 
 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events beyond the control of the Group and the Company. The Group and 
the Company do not recognise contingent assets but disclose its existence where 
inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain. 
 
In the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group under business combinations, 
contingent liabilities assumed are measured initially at their fair value at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 
 

3.12  Employee benefits  
 
(a) Short term employee benefits  
 

Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave, paid sick 
leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are recognised as an expense in 
the year when employees have rendered their services to the Group and the 
Company.  
 
Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave 
are recognised as an expense when employees render services that increase 
their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-
accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when 
the absences occur. 
 
Bonuses are recognised as an expense when there is a present, legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments, as a result of past events and 
when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
(b) Defined contribution plan 

 
As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the 
Employees’ Provident Fund (“EPF”). The contributions are recognised as a 
liability after deducting any contribution already paid and as an expense in 
profit or loss in the period in which the employee render their services. Once 
the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company have no 
further payment obligations. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.13 Revenue recognition  
 
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers:  
 

(i) Contract income  
 

Revenue from contract income is recognised based on invoicing 
schedule directly related to the volume of work performed. Income is 
recognised progressively as work on the contract is completed. 
Provision is made for all anticipated losses, if any, on contract works.  

 

(ii)  Sales of goods 
 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point of time when the 
control of the goods is passed to customers, which is the point in time 
when the significant risks and rewards are transferred to the customer 
and the transaction has met the probability of inflows and 
measurement reliability requirements of MFRS 15. 
 

(iii)  Supply of renewable energy 
 
The Group sells electricity to Tenaga National Bhd. (“TNB”) and the 
revenue is measured from the date of its last meter reading to the 
reporting period end.  
  
The contract with TNB is for the supply of electricity in accordance 
to the tariff rates approved by Sustainable Energy Development 
Authority Malaysia.  
 
The promise to supply electricity represents a promise to transfer a 
series of distinct goods that are substantially the same and that have 
the same pattern of transfer to TNB. The performance obligation to 
deliver electricity is satisfied over time as TNB simultaneously 
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance. Hence, electricity revenue is recognised over time by 
the Group when electricity is generated and delivered to TNB. 
 
Generally, TNB billed on a monthly basis. As the amount at which 
the Group has a right to invoice, corresponds directly with the value 
to the TNB, the revenue from electricity sales is also recognised on a 
monthly basis. Payment should be made by TNB within 30 days from 
the date of the bill is issued.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.13 Revenue recognition (continued)  
 
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued):  

 
The Group and the Company measure revenue from a sale of goods or a 
service transaction at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivables, which is usually the invoice price, net of a trade discounts and 
volume rebates given to the customer. If the transaction price includes 
variable considerations, the Group and the Company use the expected value 
method by estimating the sum of probability-weighted amounts in a range of 
possible consideration amounts, or the most likely outcome method, 
depending on which method the Group and the Company expect to better 
predict the amount of consideration to which it is entitled. 
 
For a contract with separate performance obligations, the transaction price is 
allocated to the separate performance obligations on the relative stand-alone 
selling price basis. If the stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, 
the Group and the Company estimate it by using the costs plus margin 
approach. 
 

(b) Interest income  
 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportioned basis that reflects the 
effective yield.  

 
(c) Rental income 

 
Rental income from sub-leased property is recognised in profit or loss as 
other income. 
 

3.14 Interest bearing loan and borrowings costs 
 

(a) All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transactions costs. After 
initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption 
value being recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the loans and 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 

 

Interest relating to financial liabilities is reported within finance cost in the 
profit or loss. 
 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve (12) 
months after the reporting date. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.14 Interest bearing loan and borrowings costs (continued) 
 

(b) Capitalisation of borrowing costs  
 

Interest on borrowings to finance the purchase and development of a self-
constructed qualifying asset (i.e. an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) is included in the cost 
of the asset until such time as the assets are substantially ready for use or 
sale. Such borrowing costs are capitalised net of any investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of funds that are surplus pending such 
expenditure. 
 

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset 
commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing 
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset 
for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs 
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to 
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or 
completed. 
 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

 
3.15 Income taxes  

 

Tax currently payable is calculated using the tax rates in force or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Taxable profit differs from accounting profit either 
because some income and expenses are never taxable or deductible, or because the 
time pattern that they are taxable or deductible differs between tax law and their 
accounting treatment. 
 

Using the statement of financial position liability method, deferred tax is 
recognised in respect of all temporary differences between the carrying value of 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and the corresponding 
tax base, with the exception of goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and 
temporary differences arising on initial recognition of assets and liabilities that do 
not affect taxable or accounting profit. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Group and the 
Company consider that it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits available for the asset to be utilised within the same tax 
jurisdiction. 
 
Unused tax credits do not include unabsorbed reinvestment allowances and 
unabsorbed investment tax allowances because the Group and the Company treats 
these as part of initial recognition differences. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.15 Income taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities, they 
relate to the same tax authority and the Group’s and the Company’s intention is to 
settle the amounts on a net basis. 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is 
recognised in profit or loss, except if it arises from transactions or events that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the 
tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.  
 
Since the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
arrangements, a deferred tax liability is recognised only when it is probable that 
the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future mainly because of a 
dividend distribution. 
 
At present, no provision is made for the additional tax that would be payable if the 
subsidiaries in certain countries remitted their profits because such remittances are 
not probable, as the Group intends to retain the funds to finance organic growth 
locally.  
 
In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

 
3.16 Earnings per share 

 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary 
shares (“EPS”).  
 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 
 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.17 Cash and cash equivalents  
 

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed financial institutions, 
bank overdrafts and other short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in fair value. 

 
3.18 Operating segments 

 
Segment reporting in the financial statements is presented on the same basis as it is 
used by management internally for evaluating operating segment performance and 
in deciding how to allocate resources to each operating segment. Operating 
segments are distinguishable components of the Group that engage in business 
activities from which they may earn revenues and incur expenses, including 
revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. An operating segment’s results are reviewed regularly by the chief 
operating decision maker to decide how to allocate resources to the segment and 
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are those amounts resulting from 
operating activities of a segment that are directly attributable to the segment and a 
relevant portion that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment. 
 

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group 
balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation 
process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances and transactions are 
between group entities within a single segment. 

 
3.19 Fair value measurement  

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the 
Company use market observable data to the extent possible. If the fair value of an 
asset or a liability is not directly observable, it is estimated by the Group and the 
Company (working closely with external qualified valuers) using valuation 
techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the 
use of unobservable inputs (e.g. by use of the market comparable approach that 
reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, 
or option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). 
Inputs used are consistent with the characteristics of the asset/ liability that market 
participants would take into account. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.19 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the measurement are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety: 
 

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than 
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques 
that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market date (unobservable inputs). 
 

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised by the Group 
and the Company at the end of the reporting period during which the change 
occurred. 
 
 

4. ADOPTION OF MFRSs, AMENDMENTS TO MFRSs AND INTERPRE TATIONS 
 

4.1 MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations adopted 
 
For the preparation of the financial statements, the following accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations of the MFRS framework issued by the MASB are 
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 
2019: 

 
 MFRS 16 Leases 
 IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
 Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) – Prepayment Features 

with Negative Compensation 
 Amendments to MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – 

Long-term Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures 
 Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations – Previously Held Interest in 

a Joint Operation (Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle) 
 Amendments to MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – Previously Held Interest in a 

Joint Operation (Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle) 
 Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes – Income Tax Consequences of 

Payments on Financial Instruments Classified as Equity (Annual 
Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle) 

 Amendments to MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs – Borrowing Costs Eligible for 
Capitalisation (Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle) 

 Amendments to MFRS 119 Employee Benefits – Plan Amendment, Curtailment 
or Settlement 
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4. ADOPTION OF MFRSs, AMENDMENTS TO MFRSs AND INTERPRE TATIONS 
 

4.1 MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations adopted (continued) 
 

The adoption of the above-mentioned accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group 
and the Company other than as disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 

 
4.2 New/Revised MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations not 

adopted 
 
The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the 
MFRS framework that have been issued by the MASB but have not been adopted 
by the Group and the Company: 
 
MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 
 
 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in MFRS Standards 
 Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combination – Definition of a Business 
 Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and MFRS 

108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – 
Definition of Material 

 Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments, MFRS 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and MFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
 

Amendments to MFRSs for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 
 

 Amendment to MFRS 16 Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 
 

MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Interpretations effective a date yet to be 
confirmed 
 
 Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128 

Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

 
The directors anticipate that the above-mentioned accounting standards, 
interpretations and amendments will be adopted by the Group and the Company 
when they become effective from the annual period beginning on 1 February 2020 
for those accounting standards, interpretations and amendments that are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

 
Amendments to MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – Applying MFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments with MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
have not been taken into consideration because they are not applicable to the 
Group and the Company. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS  
 

In preparing its financial statements, the Group and the Company have made significant 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that impact on the carrying value of certain 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses as well as other information reported in the 
notes. The Group and the Company periodically monitor such estimates and assumptions 
and makes sure they incorporate all relevant information available at the date when 
financial statements are prepared. However, this does not prevent actual figures differing 
from estimates. 
 
The judgements made in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements, and estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are addressed below. 

 
5.1. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 

 
The estimates for the residual values, useful lives and related depreciation charges 
for the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are based on 
commercial and production factors which could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations and competitors’ actions in response to the market 
conditions. 

 

It is possible that changes in the expected level of usage and technological 
development in the future may affect the estimated useful life of certain plant and 
machinery of the Group. 
 

5.2. Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 
 

The Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment for property, 
plant and equipment and perform impairment assessment when such indicator 
exist.  
 

In the previous financial year following a review of the business, the management 
had assessed that there were indicators of impairment of certain property, plant and 
equipment and had performed an impairment assessment on the carrying amount 
of the property, plant and equipment at 31 January 2019. Management had used 
the valuation report prepared by an independent valuer subsequent to the end of 
the previous financial year to determine the recoverable amount for the building, 
plant and machinery. 
 

The carrying amount of the identified property, plant and equipment as at 31 
January 2019 was RM5,060,000 after recognising an impairment loss of 
RM16,101,000. 
 

During the financial year, the management has temporarily halted the production 
activities of a subsidiary in conversion of waste-to-energy division due to 
disruption of waste supply. The management is of the view that in the event they 
have to sell the plant, they will require 3 years to find a buyer for the plant. 
Accordingly, based on the management estimation, the property, plant and 
equipment was further impaired by one third of its carrying amount of 
RM4,845,000 as at 31 January 2020.  
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
5.3. Loss allowances of financial assets  

 
The Group and the Company recognise impairment losses for trade receivables 
under the expected credit loss model. Individually significant trade receivables are 
tested for impairment separately by estimating the cash flows expected to be 
recoverable. All others are grouped into credit risk classes and tested for 
impairment collectively, using the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of 
loss statistics, ageing of past due amounts and current economic trends. The actual 
eventual losses may be different from the allowance made and this may affect the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial positions and results. 

 
5.4. Classification of financial assets 

 
The Group and the Company use its business model objectives as a basis to 
classify financial assets for subsequent measurements. The objectives of the Group 
and the Company in managing investments in equity and debt instruments include 
those held for trading, managing for fair value changes and managing to collect 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
principal. Management uses its judgement to determine the classification of each 
investment at the date of purchase on the basis of the Group’s and the Company’s 
business model objectives. Investment in the same debt or equity instruments need 
not necessarily be classified in the same category for subsequent measurement. 
 

5.5. Provisions for warranties 
 
The Group provides warranties on certain products with an undertaking to repair 
or replace items that fail to perform satisfactorily. A provision is recognised for 
products under warranty at the end of the reporting period based on past 
experience on the levels of repairs and returns and industry averages for defective 
products. 
 
Factors that could impact the estimated warranty claim include the quality of the 
products and the costs of parts and labour. 
 

5.6. Measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets 
 
The measurement of a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset 
includes in-substance fixed payments, variable lease payments linked to an 
inflation-related index or rate, estimates of lease term, option to purchase, 
payments under residual value guarantee and penalties for early termination. The 
actual payments may not coincide with these estimates. The Group reassesses the 
lease liability for any change in the estimates and a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the right-of-use asset. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
5.7. Income tax and deferred tax estimation  

 
Management judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be 
recognised. There are transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax 
determination may be different from the initial estimate. 
 
The Group and the Company recognise tax liabilities based on its understanding of 
the prevailing tax laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due in the 
ordinary course of business. Where the final outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such determination is 
made. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital 
allowances to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the tax losses and capital allowances can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets 
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level timing and level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
 

5.8. Fair value measurement 
 
Some of the Group’s and the Company’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair 
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Group and the Company use market-observable data to the extent it is 
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available (e.g. for unquoted investments), 
the Group and the Company work closely with external qualified valuers who 
perform the valuation, based on agreed appropriate valuation techniques and inputs 
to the model (e.g. use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent 
transaction prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis, option 
pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). Prices 
determined then by the valuers are used by the Group and the Company without 
adjustment.  
 
Changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities and their causes are quarterly 
analysed by the management of Group and of the Company. Such valuations 
require the Group and the Company to select among a range of different valuation 
methodologies and to make estimates about expected future cash flows and 
discount rates. 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 
 
GROUP 

 
Building on 

leasehold land 

 
Plant and 
machinery 

Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment 

 
Motor 

vehicles 

 
 

Total  
2020 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      
Cost      
At 1 February 2019 3,539 27,020 9,395 1,016 40,970 
Additions  - 195 56 - 251 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - (7,617) (8,397) (846) (16,860) 
Exchange differences - - 1 - 1 
At 31 January 2020 3,539 19,598 1,055 170 24,362 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 February 2019 331 9,431 9,101 906 19,769 
Charge for the financial year  49 301 16 37 403 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - (7,617) (8,256) (798) (16,671) 
Exchange differences - - 1 - 1 
At 31 January 2020 380 2,115 862 145 3,502 
      
Accumulated impairment losses      
At 1 February 2019 2,513 13,333 240 46 16,132 
Charge for the financial year  216 1,387 12 - 1,615 
Reversal of impairment (2) (11) - (46) (59) 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - - (107) - (107) 
At 31 January 2020 2,727 14,709 145 - 17,581 
      
Net carrying amount       
At 31 January 2020 432 2,774 48 25 3,279 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 
GROUP 

 
Building on 

leasehold land 

 
Plant and 
machinery 

Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment 

 
Motor 

vehicles 

 
 

Total  
2019 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      
      
Cost      
At 1 February 2018 3,539 26,962 9,408 1,016 40,925 
Additions  - 58 23 - 81 
Disposals/ Write offs - - (36) - (36) 
At 31 January 2019 3,539 27,020 9,395 1,016 40,970 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 February 2018 110 8,293 8,997 853 18,253 
Charge for the financial year  221 1,138 134 53 1,546 
Disposals/ Write offs - - (30) - (30) 
At 31 January 2019 331 9,431 9,101 906 19,769 
      
Accumulated impairment losses      
At 1 February 2018 - - 31 - 31 
Charge for the financial year  2,513 13,333 209 46 16,101 
At 31 January 2019 2,513 13,333 240 46 16,132 
      
Net carrying amount       
At 31 January 2019 695 4,256 54 64 5,069 
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6.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

   Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment 

  
 

Total 
   RM’000  RM’000 
 
COMPANY  

     

2020      
      
Cost      
At 1 February 2019   - - 
Additions   10 10 
At 31 January 2020   10 10 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 February 2019   - - 
Charge for the financial year    1 1 
At 31 January 2020   1 1 
     
Net carrying amount     
At 31 January 2020   9 9 
 
 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Non-current 24   9  9  - 
Current 3,255  5,060  -  - 
 3,279  5,069  9  - 
 
(a) During the financial year, the Group and the Company purchased property, plant 

and equipment under the following categories: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Cash 251  81  10  - 
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6.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) As at the financial year end, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 

under lease arrangements for the Group is as follows: 
 

 GROUP  
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Motor vehicles 5  58 
 

(c) Comintel Green Technologies Sdn. Bhd.’s (“CGT”) building on leasehold land 
and its plant, machinery and equipment have been charged to the financial 
institutions as disclosed in Note 17. 

 
(d) Impairment of property plant and equipment 

 
In previous financial year:  
 

- CGT was unable to operate at a capacity sufficient to generate profits for 
the Group. The management determined that there were indicators that the 
property, plant and equipment of CGT were impaired. The assessment was 
performed by the management with reference to an independent valuation 
carried out by a firm of professional valuer. The valuation was made on the 
“as is” in its existing physical condition, free from all encumbrances, and 
on a forced sales value basis. Accordingly, an impairment loss of 
RM16,025,000 has been recognised to reduce the carrying amount of 
CGT’s property, plant and equipment to RM5,000,000. 

 
- Comintel Sdn. Bhd. (“Comintel”) has to be wound up under the provision 

of the Companies Act 2016 as allowed by the Shah Alam High Court on 17 
April 2019. Based on the assessment performed by the management, the 
property, plant and equipment of Comintel was impaired by RM76,000 to 
reduce the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment to 
RM60,000. 

 
During the financial year, the management has temporarily halted the production 
activities of CGT due to disruption of waste supply. The management is of the 
view that in the event they have to sell the plant, they will require 3 years to find a 
buyer for the plant. Accordingly, based on the management estimation, the 
property, plant and equipment of CGT were further impaired by one third of its 
carrying amount of RM4,845,000 as at 31 January 2020.  
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7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 

 
Group 

Leasehold 
land 

 Office 
building 

  
Total 

2020 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Cost      
At 1 February 2019 1,009  4,282  5,291 
Additions - 97 97 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - (4,282) (4,282) 
At 31 January 2020 1,009 97 1,106 
    
Accumulated depreciation    
At 1 February 2019 298 190 488 
Charge for the financial year  60 298 358 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries  -  (464)  (464) 
At 31 January 2020 358 24  382 

    
Net carrying amount    
At 31 January 2020 651 73  724 

 
 GROUP  

 2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000 

    
Non-current 73  - 
Current 651  - 

 724  - 
 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group leases a leasehold land and rental of an 
office building. 

(a) Short-term leases and low value assets 
 
For short-term leases with lease term of 12 months or less and for leases of low-
value assets of less than RM21,000, the Group has availed the exemption in MFRS 
16 not to recognise the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Instead, payments 
made for these leases are recognised as expense when incurred as mentioned in 
Note 23. 

 
(b) Significant judgements and assumptions in relation to leases 

 
The Group applied judgement and assumptions in determining the incremental 
borrowing rate of the respective leases. Group entities first determine the closest 
available borrowing rates before using significant judgement to determine the 
adjustments required to reflect the term, security, value or economic environment 
of the respective leases. 
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7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)  
 

(c) Sale and leaseback 
 
In 2014, the Group sold one of its office building and leased the building back for 
8 years. The Group has an option to repurchase the building not less than the 
prevailing market value of the building at any time during the lease term. This sale 
and lease back transaction enables the Group to access more capital while 
continuing to use the office building. By virtue of deconsolidation of subsidiaries 
during the financial year, the Group derecognised the said office building.  
 
 

8. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 COMPANY  
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Unquoted shares, at cost  44,528 42,528 
Less: Impairment losses (39,528) (39,528) 
 5,000 3,000 
Contribution to a subsidiary  1,070 - 
 6,070 3,000 

 

The contribution to a subsidiary has no fixed term of repayment.  
 
The particulars of subsidiaries are as follow: 

 

 
Name of company 

Country of 
incorporation  

Effective 
interest 

 
Principal activities 

  2020 2019  
  % %  
Held by the 
Company 

    

Comintel Sdn. Bhd.*  Malaysia - 100 Turnkey engineering design and 
integration, programme 
management, installation and 
commissioning as well as 
investment holding. 

     
Comintel Green 

Technologies Sdn. 
Bhd.@^ 

Malaysia 50.6 70 Carrying out business in 
renewable and green 
technology products and other 
energy efficient solutions. 

     
Green Waste 

Management Sdn. 
Bhd. 

Malaysia 100 100 Provision of engineering, 
procurement, construction and 
program management 
services for green waste 
management and waste-to-
energy solution. 
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8.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Name of company 

Country of 
incorporation  

Effective 
interest 

 
Principal activities 

  2020 2019  
  % %  
     
Held by the 
Company  

    

Comintel System 
Technologies Sdn. 
Bhd.  

Malaysia 100 100 Turnkey engineering design and 
integration, programme 
management, installation, 
commissioning and 
comprehensive after sales 
service support. 

     
PT. Intelcom 

Indonesia# 
Indonesia 80 80 Turnkey engineering design and 

integration, programme 
management, installation and 
commissioning as well as 
carrying out the business in 
renewable and green technology 
products and other energy 
efficient solutions. 

    

Held through 
Comintel  
   Sdn. Bhd. 

    

Total Package Work 
Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as 
Indusmatic 
Corporation Sdn. 
Bhd.)*  

Malaysia - 100 Provision of research and 
development services and dealers 
in all kinds of telecommunication 
and electronic equipment and the 
provision of related services. 

     
Comintel (HK) 

Limited+* 
Hong Kong - 100 Trading of electronic, 

engineering and 
telecommunication equipment 
and the provision of related 
services. During the financial 
year, the company remained 
dormant. 

     
Comintel Mobility 

Sdn. Bhd.* 
Malaysia - 100 Providing services for mobile 

applications, hosted mobile 
devices management platform 
and as a mobile virtual network 
operator.  
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8.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Name of company 

Country of 
incorporation  

Effective 
interest 

 
Principal activities 

  2020 2019  
  % %  
     
Comintel Tech 
Services Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia - 100 Electronic systems testing and 
repair, development of test 
programs and provision of 
integrated logistic support. 

 
 
* On 17 April 2019, the Group lost control in Comintel Sdn. Bhd. (“Comintel”) and its 

subsidiaries as Comintel was wound up by court order.   
@ The financial statements of Comintel Green Technologies Sdn. Bhd. (“CGT”) are 

prepared on break-up basis.  
^  The Group’s effective interest in CGT was reduced from 70% to 50.6% with effect 

from 17 April 2019 as Comintel holds 19.4% interest in CGT. 
#  The financial statements of PT. Intelcom Indonesia was not audited as the company is 

not required to submit their annual financial statements to the Indonesian’s Ministry 
of Trade. 

+  The financial statements of Comintel (HK) Limited was unaudited as Hong Kong 
legislation does not require the accounts to be audited if it is dormant. 



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 52 - 

8.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 
 
The Group has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) as follows: 
 

 Comintel 
Green 

Technologies 
Sdn. Bhd. 

  
 

PT. Intelcom 
Indonesia 

  
 
 

Total 
2020      
NCI percentage of ownership 

interest and voting interest 
 

49.4% 
  

20% 
  

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Carrying amount of NCI (15,305)  (30) (15,335) 
Loss allocated to NCI (1,747)  (17) (1,764) 
     
Summarised financial information 

before intra-group elimination: 
    

As at 31 January     
Non-current assets -  5 5 
Current assets 4,453  2,558 7,011 
Current liabilities (35,434)  (2,713) (38,147) 
Net liabilities (30,981)  (150) (31,131) 
     
Revenue 9  157 166 
Loss for the year (3,866)  (85) (3,951) 
Total comprehensive expense (3,866)  (87) (3,953) 
     
Net cash generated from/(used in):     
- Operating activities 1,970  339 2,309 
- Investing activities (206)  - (206) 
- Financing activities (1,764)  (1,130) (2,894) 
Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

- 
  

(791) 
 

(791) 
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8.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

 Comintel 
Green 

Technologies 
Sdn. Bhd. 

  
PT. 

Intelcom 
Indonesia 

  
 
 

Total 
2019      
      
NCI percentage of ownership 

interest and voting interest 
 

30% 
  

20% 
  

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Carrying amount of NCI (8,082)  (13) (8,095) 
(Loss)/ Profit allocated to NCI (7,182)  7 (7,175) 
     
Summarised financial information 

before intra-group elimination: 
    

As at 31 January     
Non-current assets -  6 6 
Current assets 5,541  3,746 9,287 
Current liabilities (32,481)  (3,816) (36,297) 
Net liabilities (26,940)  (64) (27,004) 
     
Revenue 7  374 381 
(Loss)/ Profit for the year (23,939)  36 (23,903) 
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 

income 
 

(23,939) 
  

36 
 

(23,903) 
     
Net cash generated from/ (used in):     
- Operating activities 2,316  (1,297) 1,019 
- Investing activities (66)  9 (57) 
- Financing activities (2,296)  2,605 309 
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and 

cash equivalents 
 

(46) 
  

1,317 
 

1,271 
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8.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 
 
DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 
 
On 17 April 2019, Shah Alam High Court allowed the winding up petition and that 
Comintel Sdn. Bhd. was wound up under the provision of the Companies Act 2016. The 
Company lost control over Comintel Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries on the same date. 
Accordingly, the Group deconsolidated Comintel Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries by 
derecognising their related assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests.  
 
The deconsolidation had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities. 
 

 GROUP 
 2020 
 RM’000 
  

Identifiable assets and liabilities deconsolidated  
Property, plant and equipment 82 
Right-of-use assets 3,818 
Other investments 343 
Trade receivables 586 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2,305 
Tax recoverable 566 
Short term deposits with financial institutions 2,768 
Cash and bank balances 1,115 
Lease liabilities (7,526) 
Bank borrowing (717) 
Trade payables (788) 
Other payables and accruals (907) 
Amount due to holding company (13,222) 
Litigation liability (23,605) 
Provision for warranty (99) 
Provision for taxation (641) 
Net liabilities deconsolidated (35,922) 
Add: Reversal of impairment on amount due from Comintel Sdn. Bhd. 13,222 
Add: Transfer of translation reserve (756) 
Gain on deconsolidation (23,456) 
Net cash and cash equivalents disposed of (398) 
Net cash outflow (23,854) 
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9. OTHER INVESTMENTS 
 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
        
Current         
Golf memberships -  343  -  - 
Investments in unit 
 trusts 

 
11,160 

  
     24,246 

  
8,424 

  
21,575 

 11,160  24,589  8,424  21,575 
 
 

10.    INVENTORIES 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    
    
At cost and net realisable value:    
   
Finished goods 61 2,135 
Less: Inventories written off (11) (1,966) 
 50 169 
Less: Allowance for inventories obsolescence for 

finished goods 
  

   At beginning of the financial year - (1,674) 
Write back of allowance for inventories obsolescence - 1,674 

   At end of the financial year - - 
 - 169 
   
Total inventories 50 169 
   
Recognised in profit or loss:   
Inventories recognised as cost of sales 395 747 
Inventories written off 11 1,966 
Write back of allowance for inventories obsolescence - (1,674) 
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11. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    
Third parties 575  1,386 
Amount due from a related company  549  - 
 1,124  1,386 
    
Less: Accumulated individual loss allowances    
  At beginning of the financial year (629)  - 
  Impairment loss for the financial year (183)  (629) 
  Exchange differences (8)  - 
  Deconsolidation of subsidiaries  345  - 
  At end of the financial year  (475)  (629) 
 649  757 
    
The currency profile of trade receivables is as follows:    
    

Ringgit Malaysia 649  407 
Indonesia Rupiah -  350 
 649  757 

 
The Group’s normal trade credit terms range from Cash on Delivery (“COD”) to 90 days 
(2019: COD to 90 days). Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case 
basis. 

 
 
12. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Other receivables 161  241  -  - 
Deposits 41  70  -  - 
Amount due from a 
related company 

 
18,136 

  
- 

  
18,136 

  
- 

Amounts due from 
related parties 

 
- 

  
1 

  
- 

  
- 

Amount due from 
subsidiaries 

 
- 

  
- 

  
27,201 

  
34,059 

 18,338  312  45,337  34,059 
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12.  OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Less: Accumulated 
individual loss allowances

       

At beginning of the 
financial year 

 
(121) 

  
- 

  
(31,452) 

  
- 

Impairment loss for the 
financial year 

 
(14,944) 

  
(121) 

  
(7,713) 

  
(31,452) 

At end of the financial  
year  

 
(15,065) 

  
(121) 

  
(39,165) 

  
(31,452) 

 3,273  191  6,172  2,607 
        
Prepayments 3,253  4,189  29  20 
Less: Accumulated 
individual loss 

 allowance 

       

At beginning of the 
financial year 

 
(1,100) 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Impairment loss for the 
financial year 

 
(15) 

  
(1,100) 

  
- 

  
- 

At end of the financial 
year  

       (1,115)  (1,100)  -  - 

 2,138  3,089  29  20 
 5,411  3,280  6,201  2,627 

 
(a) Amounts due from a related company, related parties and subsidiaries 

 

The amounts due from a related company, related parties and the subsidiaries are 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
 

(b) The currency profile of other receivables, deposits and prepayments are as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Ringgit Malaysia 3,347  1,214  6,201  2,627 
US Dollar 33  9  -  - 
Euro Dollar 21  13  -  - 
Indonesia Rupiah 2,010  2,044  -  - 
 5,411  3,280  6,201  2,627 
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13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Short term deposits with 

financial institutions 
 

426 
  

4,375 
  

- 
  

- 
Cash and bank balances 1,430  1,845  53  3 
 1,856  6,220  53  3 
Less:         
Short term deposits 

pledged 
 

- 
  

(2,683) 
  

- 
  

- 
Cash deposit pledged (426)  (426)  -  - 
Short term deposits 

with maturity more 
than 3 months 

 
 

- 

  
 

(67) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Bank overdrafts -  (891)  -  - 
Total cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

1,430 
  

2,153 
  

53 
  

3 
 
 

The currency profile of cash and bank balances are as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Ringgit Malaysia 883  506  53  3 
Indonesia Rupiah 547  1,339  -  - 
 1,430  1,845  53  3 
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13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:  
 

 GROUP 
  

Continuing operations 
 Discontinued 

operation 
  

 Bank 
facilities 

  
Term loan 

 Hire purchase 
payables 

 Lease 
liabilities 

 Lease 
liabilities 

  
Total debts 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
            
Balance at 1 February 2018 - 10,406  126  -  -  10,532 
Cash flows:            
Inflows from drawdown  403 - - -  -  403 
Outflows of repayments (403) (1,848)   (40)  -  -  (2,291) 
Balance at 31 January 2019 - 8,558  86  -  -  8,644 
Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16 - -  (86)  919  8,011  8,844 
Balance as at 1 February 2019 - 8,558  -  919  8,011  17,488 
Cash flows:           
Addition of lease liabilities - - -  97  -  97 
Interest accrued  - 56 -  -  -  56 
Outflows of repayments - (1,694)  -  (27)  (4)  (1,725) 
Payment of rental expense - -  -  (66)  (481)  (547) 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - -  -  -  (7,526)  (7,526) 
Balance at 31 January 2020 - 6,920 -  923  -  7,843 
 

Short term deposits and cash deposit with financial institutions 
 

Short term deposits and cash deposit amounting to NIL and RM426,000 (2019: RM2,683,000 and RM426,000) respectively have been pledged to financial 
institutions for the banking facilities made available to the Group (Note 17). 
 

The maturity period of the fixed deposits ranges from 1 month to 12 months and the weighted average effective interest rates was NIL (2019: 3.0%) per 
annum. 
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14. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 GROUP/ COMPANY 
 2020  2019 

 Number of 
ordinary 
shares 

  
 

Amount 

 Number of 
ordinary 
shares 

  
 

Amount 
 ’000  RM’000  ’000  RM’000 
At beginning of the 

financial year 
 

140,000 
  

95,745 
 

140,000 
 

70,000 
Transfer from share 

premium in 
accordance with 
Section 618(2) of the 
Companies Act 2016 

 
 
 
 

- 

  
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

25,745 
At end of the financial 

year 
 

140,000 
  

95,745 
 

140,000 
 

95,745 
     

 
 
15. OTHER RESERVES 

 
 GROUP 
 Translation 

reserve 
  

Total 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    
At 1 February 2018 614  614 
Translation reserve 73  73 
At 31 January 2019/ 1 February 2019 687  687 
Realisation of translation reserve (756)  (756) 
Translation reserve (2)  (2) 
At 31 January 2020 (71)  (71) 

 
The translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies 
are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency. It is also used to record the 
exchange differences arising from monetary items which form part of the Group’s net 
investment in foreign operations, where the monetary item is denominated in either the 
functional currency of the reporting entity or the foreign operation. 
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16. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 

(a) Lease liabilities 
 

 GROUP 
 2020 
 RM’000 
  
Future lease payment payable:  
- Not later than one year 1,417 
- Later than one year and not later than five years 45 
 1,462 
Less: Future interest charges (539) 
Present value of lease liabilities 923 
  
Repayable as follows:  
  
Current  
- Not later than one year 881 
  
Non-current  
- Later than one year and not later than five years 42 
 923 
 

(b) Cash outflows for leases as a lessee 
 

 GROUP 
 2020 
 RM’000 
  
Included in net cash from operating activities:  
- Payment relating to short-term leases (452) 
- Payment relating to leases of low-value assets  (27) 
- Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities (246) 
  
  
Included in net cash from financing activities:  
- Payment of lease liabilities (578) 
Total cash outflows for leases (1,303) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 62 - 

16. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Short-term leases and low-value assets 

 
 GROUP 
 2020 
 RM’000 
  
Future commitment for lease payment:  
- Not later than one year 536 
- Later than one year and not later than five years 42 

 
The Group leases office spaces and office equipment with contract terms of 1 to 5 
years. These leases are short-term and/or leases of low-value assets. The Group 
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases. 

 

17. BANK BORROWINGS 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
Short term borrowings    
Term loan 6,920  8,558 
Bank overdrafts -  891 
Total bank borrowings 6,920  9,449 
    

Maturity of bank borrowings as at reporting date is as follows: 
   

Payable within one year 6,920 9,449 
 

The term loan is secured as follows: 
 
(a) first rank fixed and floating charge over Comintel Green Technologies Sdn. Bhd.’s 

(a 50.6% owned subsidiary held by the Company and 19.4% held by Comintel 
Sdn. Bhd.) (“CGT”) present and future assets; 

(b) 60% of the loan is guaranteed by Credit Guarantee Corporation Berhad; 
(c) assignment of all rights, interest and benefits of CGT and the proceeds from the 

sale of electricity in respect of the Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement 
(“REPPA”); 

(d) corporate guarantee by the Company for RM14.5 million; 
(e) first party first legal charge over the lease of the project site; and 
(f) memorandum of cash deposit of RM426,000 for the Financing Service Reserve 

Account (Note 13).  
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17. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 
 

The other bank borrowings are secured as follows: 
 
(a) debenture over the Comintel Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries’s present and future 

assets; 
(b) corporate guarantee by the Company for RM Nil (2019: RM51.6 million); and 
(c) short term deposits of Comintel Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries (Note 13). 

 
At end of the reporting period, the weighted average effective interest rates for bank 
borrowings were as follows: 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 % p.a.  % p.a. 
    
Term loan 9.3  9.3 
Bank overdrafts -  8.7 
 
 

18. HIRE PURCHASE PAYABLES 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
Minimum hire purchase payments:    
- not later than 1 year -  91 
- later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -  - 
 - 91 
Future hire purchase interest charges - (5) 
Present value of hire purchase liabilities - 86 
   
Analysis of present value of hire purchase liabilities:   
- not later than 1 year - 86 
 
In previous financial year, the hire purchase payables bear weighted average effective 
interest rate for hire purchase at 3.1% per annum. 
 
With the adoption of MFRS 16 Leases, hire purchase payables were reclassified to lease 
liabilities with effect from 1 January 2019. 
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19. TRADE PAYABLES 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    
Third parties -  789 
    
The currency profile of trade payables is as follows: 

 2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Ringgit Malaysia -  88 
Euro -  701 
 -  789 

 
The normal trade credit terms range from COD to 90 days (2019: COD to 90 days). 
 
 

20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 
 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Other payables 1,285  1,390  924  20 
Accruals 269  396  153  26 
Deposits received 4  312  -  - 
Amount due to a 

shareholder 
 

1,650 
  

1,650 
  

- 
  

- 
Amounts due to directors 1,341  1,345  1,210  - 
Amount due to related 

companies 
 

1,838 
  

- 
 

- 
  

- 
 6,387  5,093  2,287  46 
 
(a) Amounts due to a shareholder, directors and related companies  

 
The amounts due a shareholder, directors and related companies are unsecured, 
interest free and repayable on demand. 

 

(b) The currency profile of other payables and accruals are as follows: 
    
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Ringgit Malaysia 5,154  3,916  2,287  46 
US Dollar -  1,013  -  - 
Indonesia Rupiah 1,233  162  -  - 
HK Dollar -  2  -  - 
 6,387  5,093  2,287  46 
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21. PROVISION FOR WARRANTY 
 

 GROUP  
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    

At beginning of the financial year 99  122 
Provision written back during the year -  (23) 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (99)  - 
At end of the financial year - 99 
   
The Group provides warranties on certain products with an undertaking to repair or 
replace items that fail to perform satisfactorily. This provision is made for products 
under warranty at the end of the reporting period based on past experience on the levels 
of repairs and returns and industry averages for defective products. 

 
 
22. REVENUE 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
        
Revenue from contracts 

with customers 
       

- Sales of goods and  
  services 

 
1,440 

  
3,927 

  
- 

  
- 

        
Revenue from other 

sources: 
       

- Interest income 496  1,485  496  1,485 
 1,936  5,412  496  1,485 
        
Timing of revenue 

recognition: 
       

- At a point in time 1,927  3,555  496  1,485 
- Over time 9  1,857  -  - 
 1,936  5,412  496  1,485 
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23. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 
 

The profit/(loss) from continuing operations are stated after charging/ (crediting): 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Auditors’ remuneration:        
- current year 52  92  25  23 
- under/(over) provision 

in prior year 
 

42 
  

(2) 
  

17 
  

- 
Allowance for doubtful 

debts 
 

15,145 
  

1,850 
  

7,713 
  

31,452 
Bad debts written off -  1,161  -  - 
Deposits written off -  14  -  - 
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 
 

399 
  

1,546 
  

1 
  

- 
Depreciation of right-of-

use assets 
 

84 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Expenses relating to short-

term leases 
 

452 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Expenses relating to leases 

of low-value assets 
 

21 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Gain on disposal of other 

investment 
 

- 

  
            (19) 

  
- 

  
- 

Gain on disposal of  
   property, plant and 

equipment 

 
 

- 

  
 

(7) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
 Impairment losses on 

investment in  
subsidiaries 

 
 
- 

  
 
- 

  
 

- 

  
 

10,743 
Impairment losses on 

property, plant and 
equipment 

 
 

1,556 

  
 

16,101 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Interest income (110)  (220)  -  - 
Inventories written off 11  1,966  -  - 
Lease of premises -  2,475  -  - 
Litigation losses -  1,667  -  - 
Property, plant and 

equipment written off 
 

- 
  

6 
  

- 
  

- 
Provision for warranty 

written back 
 

- 
  

(23) 
  

- 
  

- 
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23. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

The profit/(loss) from continuing operations are stated after charging/ (crediting): 
(continued) 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Realised loss on foreign 
exchange 

 
7 

  
17 

  
- 

  
- 

Rental income -  (1,266)  -  - 
Rental of land -  114  -  - 
Rental of land for car park -  27  -  - 
Rental of office equipment -  31  -  - 
Rental of premises -  65  -  - 
Unrealised capital gain on 

other investment 
 

(16) 
  

(4) 
  

- 
  

- 
Unrealised (gain)/ loss 

on foreign exchange 
 

(204) 
  

104 
  

(42) 
  

(5) 
Write back of allowances  

for inventories  
obsolescence 

 
 

- 

  
 

(1,674) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
 

(a) Employee information 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Staff cost        
Salaries, allowances, 

overtime and wages 
 

3,393 
  

4,947 
  

628 
  

119 
Defined contribution 

plan 
 

301 
  

464 
  

76 
  

10 
Social security  
  contributions 

 
33 

  
48 

  
9 

  
1 

Other benefits 8  14  - - 
 3,735  5,473  713  130 

 
 
24. FINANCE COSTS 

 
 GROUP  
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Term loan interest 573  664 
Hire purchase interest -  6 
Interest on lease liabilities 88  - 
Others -  77 
 661  747 
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25.  TAXATION  

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Income tax expense        
- current financial year 4  55  4  55 
- overprovision in 

previous financial year 
 

(12) 
  

- 
  

(12) 
  

- 
 (8)  55  (8)  55 
        
A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate applicable to the profit/ 
(loss) before taxation is as follows: 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Profit/ (loss) before 

taxation  
 

14,532 
  

(32,624) 
  

(8,657) 
  

(43,916) 
        
Tax at applicable 

statutory tax rate of 
24% (2019: 24%) for 
the Group and the 
Company 

 
 
 
 

3,488 

  
 
 
 

(7,830) 

  
 
 
 

(2,078) 

  
 
 
 

(10,540) 
        
Tax effects in respect of:        
        
Non-taxable income (5,832)  (432)  (125)  - 
Non-allowable expenses 930  5,011  2,207  10,593 
Deferred tax assets not 

recognised in the 
financial statements 

 
 

1,421 

  
 

3,310 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Utilisation of deferred 

tax assets previously 
not recognised 

 
 

(4) 

  
 

(6) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Others 1  2  -  2 
 4  55  4  55 
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25. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 
 
As at 31 January 2020, the Group has the following deferred tax assets which are not 
recognised in the financial statements due to uncertainty in the availability of future 
taxable income: 
      

 
 
GROUP 

  Unabsorbed 
capital 

allowances 

  
Unabsorbed 
tax losses 

  
 

Total 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
As at 1 February 2019 2,661  16,888  19,549 
Addition  709  708  1,417 
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (226)  (13,258)  (13,484) 
 3,144  4,338  7,482 
 
As at 31 January 2020, the Group has unabsorbed capital allowance and unabsorbed tax 
losses of approximately RM13,100,000 and RM18,077,000 (2019: RM11,087,000 and 
RM 70,360,000) respectively, which are available to set off against future chargeable 
income. 
 

The unabsorbed tax losses are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable 
profits except for the tax losses which will expire in the following financial years: 
 

       GROUP 
       2020 
       RM’000 
Year of assessments      

2025     11,066 
2026     2,891 
2027     4,120 

 
 
26. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 

 
During the current financial year, the Group discontinued partial of its system 
integration and maintenance business as a result of loss of control in Comintel Sdn. Bhd. 
and its subsidiaries. The analysis of the single net profit presented in profit or loss is as 
follows: 

   2020 
   RM’000 

    

Revenue   949 
Cost of sales   (480) 
Gross profit   469 
Other operating income   668 
Other operating expenses   (3,007) 
Loss from discontinued operation   (1,870) 
Finance costs   (168) 
Loss before tax from discontinued operation   (2,038) 
Taxation   - 
Net loss of discontinued operation   (2,038) 
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26. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED) 
 

The loss from discontinued operation are stated after charging/ (crediting): 
   2020 
   RM’000 
    
Auditors’ remuneration   10 
Bad debts written off   905 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   4 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets   274 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets   6 
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets   (375) 
Interest income   (26) 
Interest on lease liabilities   158 
Inventories written off   167 
Litigation losses   205 
Others interest charges   10 
Realised loss on foreign exchange   1 
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange   (10) 
 
 

27. EARNING PER ORDINARY SHARE 
 

The calculation of basic and diluted earning/(loss) per ordinary share is based on the net 
profit of RM14,266,000 (2019: net loss of RM25,504,000) attributable to owners of the 
Company over the weighted average number of 140,000,000 ordinary shares in issue 
during the financial year. 
 
The diluted earning/ (loss) per ordinary share of the Group is equal to the basic earning/ 
(loss) per ordinary share as the Group does not have any material potential dilutive 
ordinary shares in issue. 

 
 
28. DIVIDENDS 

 
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company: 

       2019 
       RM’000 
        

In respect of the financial year ended 31 January 2019:   
   

First interim single-tier tax exempt dividend of 45 sen per ordinary 
share, declared on 20 March 2018 and paid on 19 April 2018 

  
63,000 

   
The directors do not recommend any final dividend to be paid for the financial year 
ended 31 January 2020. 
 
All the dividends paid in previous financial year were single-tier dividends with no 
income tax consequences to shareholders of the Company. 
 
Before the dividends were paid to the shareholders, the directors of the Company had 
taken reasonable steps to ensure that the Company would be able to pay its debts in full 
within 12 months after the payment of dividends to shareholders.  
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29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 
 

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the 
Group if the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or 
jointly control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decision, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and 
the party are subject to common control. 
 

Related parties may be individuals or other entities. The Group and the Company have 
related party relationships with directors, key management personnel and companies in 
which certain directors have substantial financial interest. 
 

Significant related party transactions 
 

Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under 
normal trade terms. The significant related party transactions of the Group and of the 
Company are as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

        
(a) Subsidiaries        

Management fee 
income from sub-
subsidiary 

 
 

(15) 

  
 

(60) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Promotion 

expenses to a 
related company 

 
 

25 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Reimbursement of 

project income 
from a related 
company 

 
 
 

(549) 

  
 
 

- 

  
 
 
- 

  
 
 
- 

Rental expense to a 
related company 

 
405 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Rental income 
from a sub-
subsidiary 

 
 
(24) 

  
 

(107) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
        

(b) Sub-subsidiaries         
Management fee 

expenses 
 
15 

  
60 

  
- 

  
- 

Rental expenses to 
a subsidiary 

 
24 

  
107 

  
- 

  
- 

        
(c) Related party        

Security services 
provided by 
Gallant Guard 
Services Sdn. 
Bhd., a firm in 
which a director 
has financial 
interest 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
101 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

101 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 
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29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED) 

Significant related party transactions (continued) 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY  
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
(d) Compensation of 

key management 
personnel 

       

Executives 
Directors: 

       

- salaries and other 
emoluments 

 
637 

  
669 

  
- 

  
- 

        
Non-Executives    

Directors: 
       

- fees 129  160  120  118 
- salaries and other 

emoluments 
 

19 
  

- 
  

19 
  

- 
 785  829  139  118 
 
Apart from the Group’s directors, there are no other key management personnel having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Group directly or indirectly. 
 
 

30. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

The Group comprises the following main business segments: 
 

(a) System Integration and Maintenance 
Services 

The provision of turnkey engineering 
design and integration, program 
management, installation, commissioning 
and the provision of electronic systems 
testing and repair. 

   

(b) Green Waste Management and 
Conversion of Waste-to-Energy 

The provision of engineering, 
procurement, construction and program 
management services for green waste 
management and waste-to-energy 
solution, carrying out business in renewal 
and green technology products and other 
energy efficient solutions. 

   

(c) Investment Holding The provisions of investment in 
subsidiaries and other investments. 

   



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 73 - 

30.    SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

The Group’s operations are substantially in Malaysia. 
 

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the customers. 
Segment assets are also based on the geographical location of assets. 

  
Continuing operations 

 Discontinued 
operation 

  
System Integration 
and Maintenance 

Services  

 Green Waste 
Management and 

Conversion of 
Waste-to-Energy 

  
 

Investment 
Holding 

  
 
 

Consolidated 

  
System Integration  
and Maintenance 

Services  
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31 January 2020         
Revenue from external customers 1,431  9  496  1,936 949 
         
Segment results (2,415)  (3,190)  20,798  15,193 (1,870) 
Finance costs (5)  (656)  -  (661) (168) 
(Loss)/Profit before taxation (2,420)  (3,846)  20,798  14,532 (2,038) 
Taxation -  -  8  8 - 
Post-tax loss from subsidiaries due 

to loss in control 
 

- 
  

- 
  

(2,038) 
  

(2,038) 
 

- 
(Loss)/Profit for the financial year (2,420)  (3,846)  18,768  12,502 (2,038) 
         
Assets         
Segment total assets 4,224  7,191  11,714  23,129 - 
         

Liabilities          
Segment total liabilities 1,780  10,168  2,287  14,235 - 
         

Other information         
Capital expenditure 11  206  10  227 24 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 
 

3 
  

395 
  

1 
  

399 
 

4 
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30.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

  
System Integration  
and Maintenance 

Services  

 Green Waste 
Management and 

Conversion of Waste-
to-Energy 

  
 

Investment 
Holding 

  
 
 

Consolidated 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31 January 2019        
Revenue from external customers         3,920  7  1,485  5,412 
        
Segment results (9,127)  (21,029)  (1,721)  (31,877) 
Finance costs (78)  (669)  -  (747) 
Loss before taxation (9,205)  (21,698)  (1,721)  (32,624) 
Taxation -  -  (55)  (55) 
Loss for the financial year       (9,205)  (21,698)  (1,776)  (32,679) 
        
Assets        
Segment total assets 10,832  8,222  21,598  40,652 
        
Liabilities         
Segment total liabilities 26,689  12,684  87  39,460 
        
Other information        
Capital expenditure 15  66  -  81 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 
 

106 
  

1,440 
  

- 
  

1,546 
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30.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Geographical segments 
 
For the financial year ended 31 January 2020, the geographical segments of the Group 
are as follow: 
 
 Malaysia  Overseas  Consolidated 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31 January 2020      
Continuing operations       
Revenue from external customers 1,779  157  1,936 
Segment assets by locations of assets 20,566  2,563  23,129 
Capital expenditure by locations of 

assets 
 

227 
  

- 
  

227 
      
Discontinued operation       
Revenue from external customers 949  -  949 
Capital expenditure by locations of 

assets 
 

24 
  

- 
  

24 
      
31 January 2019      
Continuing operations      
Revenue from external customers 5,038  374  5,412 
Segment assets by locations of assets 36,900  3,752  40,652 
Capital expenditure by locations of 

assets 
 

80 
  

1 
  

81 
 

 
31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
 GROUP 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
Bank guarantees given to financial institutions in favour 

of third parties 
 

- 
  

252 
 

 COMPANY 
 2020  2019 

 RM’000  RM’000 
Corporate guarantees given to financial institutions for 

credit facilities granted to: 
   

- subsidiaries 14,500  137,200 
- a former subsidiary 122,700  - 
 137,200  137,200 

 
 
 
 
 

 



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 76 - 

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
As at reporting date, no values were ascribed on guarantees provided by the Company to 
secure banking facilities described above as the directors regard the value of the credit 
enhancement provided by these guarantees as minimal and the probability of default 
based on historical track records of the parties receiving the guarantees are remote.  

 

32. MATERIAL LITIGATION 
 
On 3 October 2013, Kuala Lumpur High Court ruled in favour of Comintel Sdn. Bhd. 
(“Comintel”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with regards to the litigation 
action taken by Comintel against U Television Sdn. Bhd. (“1st Defendant” or “UTV”) 
and Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan Chee Yioun (“2nd Defendant” or “Tan Sri Dato’ 
Seri Vincent Tan”) upon the following: - 
 
(a)  Comintel’s claim for RM11,217,798 together with interest thereon at the rate of 

5% p.a. from 5 July 2010 until the date of payment; 
(b)  Storage cost and insurance amounting to RM284,905 as at 31 October 2012 

together with interest thereon at the rate of 5% p.a. from 5 July 2010 until date of 
payment; 

(c)  Cost of RM75,000; and 
(d)  Cost of storage and insurance for Transmitter from 1 November 2012 till the date 

of removal. 
 
Thereafter, the defendants filed for a stay of execution pending an appeal to the Court of 
Appeal. 
 
The stay of execution was granted on condition that the said sums of money amounting 
to RM11,502,703 together with interest at 5% per annum from 5 July 2010 until the date 
of the payment to be paid to a joint escrow account of the solicitors. The hearing of the 
defendants’ appeal was fixed on 28 August 2015. 
 
On 28 August 2015, after hearing extensive oral arguments from counsel for 1st 
Defendant and Comintel, the panel of judges unanimously dismissed 1st Defendant’s 
appeal and affirmed the High Court’s decision with cost of RM30,000 to be paid to 
Comintel. 
 
Thereafter, 1st Defendant’s motion to apply for leave to appeal to the Federal Court was 
fixed for hearing on 2 February 2016 and due to rescheduling of cases in the Federal 
Court, the hearing was postponed to 3 March 2016. 
 
On 3 March 2016, the Federal Court allowed the application by the Defendants for leave 
to appeal against the decision of the Court of Appeal dated 28 August 2015.  
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32. MATERIAL LITIGATION (CONTINUED) 
 
The hearing of the appeal by the Federal Court was fixed on 15 February 2017. 
 
On 15 February 2017, at the conclusion of the oral submissions, the Federal Court 
reserved its decision pertaining to the appeal to a date to be announced later. 
 
On 18 August 2017, the Federal Court allowed the appeal by UTV and Tan Sri Dato’ 
Seri Vincent Tan and allowed the counter claim of RM20,833,053 against Comintel 
together with interest at 8% per annum.  
 
On 26 January 2018, the Federal Court clarified that the interest of 8% per annum should 
accrue with effect from 18 August 2017. 
 
On 12 June 2018, solicitors for UTV issued a Statutory Demand to Comintel via its 
solicitor demanding the payment of RM22,198,331 to UTV within 21 days from 12 June 
2018, pursuant to Section 465 and 466 of the Companies Act 2016.  In the same letter, 
UTV’s solicitor also states that UTV will commence enforcement proceedings against 
Comintel if Comintel fails to make payment within the stipulated time. 
 
On 5 July 2018, Comintel filed a Notice of Motion together with an Affidavit in Support 
for amongst others, an order that the part of the Federal Court’s decision on 18 August 
2017 which allowed the counterclaim of UTV and Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan (“FC 
Decision”) be set aside on the ground of breach of natural justice and be directed to be 
reheard (“Review”). The case management for the Review was fixed on 27 July 2018. 
 
On 9 July 2018, the High Court dismissed Comintel’s application for a Fortuna 
Injunction to prevent the presentation of winding-up petition against Comintel, with cost 
of RM12,000 (“HC Decision”), subject to payment of allocator fee. Subsequently, 
Comintel lodged an appeal to the Court of Appeal on 10 July 2018 against the HC 
Decision. 
 
On 27 July 2018, Comintel was served with the Winding Up petition by UTV.  The case 
management was fixed on 29 August 2018 (then rescheduled to 5 September 2018) and 
the hearing for the winding-up petition was fixed on 18 October 2018. 
 
On 2 August 2018, Comintel filed an application in the Federal Court for a stay of 
execution of the FC Decision pending the disposal of the Review (“Stay”).                                             
 
The hearing of the appeal by the Court of Appeal against the dismissal of the Fortuna 
Injunction application by the High Court was fixed on 3 September 2018.                                              
 
On 3 September 2018, the Court of Appeal dismissed Comintel’s application of appeal 
against the HC Decision with cost of RM10,000 to be paid to UTV and Tan Sri Dato’ 
Seri Vincent Tan, subject to payment of the allocator fee.       
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32. MATERIAL LITIGATION (CONTINUED) 
                                                                                                     
The hearing for Review and Stay are fixed on 2 October 2018.                                                                             
 
On 2 October 2018, the Federal Court allowed Comintel’s application for Stay of 
Enforcement of winding up pending the final disposal of the Review. The hearing date 
for the Winding-Up Petition has been vacated by virtue of an order delivered orally by 
the Federal Court on 2 October 2018 where the hearing of the Winding-Up Petition shall 
be adjourned until the final disposal of the Review. The Winding-Up Petition was 
scheduled for further case management on 14 January 2019. The hearing for the Review 
has been rescheduled to 7 March 2019. 
 
On 14 January 2019, the Shah Alam High Court informed that the Winding-Up Petition 
was scheduled for a case management on 15 March 2019 for both parties to update the 
said Court on the status of the Federal Court’s proceedings and the grounds on which the 
winding up petition is to be stayed. 
 
On 7 March 2019, the Federal Court dismissed Comintel’s application to review the 
FC’s earlier Order dated 18 August 2017 (“Order”) with cost of RM20,000 to be paid to 
UTV and Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan, subject to payment of allocator fee. Thus, 
Comintel is to pay the counterclaim sum of RM20,833,053 together with interest and 
costs to UTV pursuant to the Order. 
 
On 15 March 2019, both counsels were informed that the hearing in relation to the 
Winding-Up Petition is fixed on 17 April 2019. 
 
On 17 April 2019, upon hearing to the parties’ oral submission, Shah Alam High Court 
allowed the Winding-Up Petition and that Comintel is to be wound up under the 
provision of the Companies Act 2016, Mr. Augustine A/L T.K. James of James & Co is 
appointed as Comintel’s Liquidator. The cost incidentals to this Petition in the sum of 
RM7,000 be paid out of Comintel’s assets. 
 
On 25 June 2019, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (“the Agreement”) 
with Ansat Broadcast Sdn. Bhd. ("Ansat Broadcast") (formerly known as U Television 
Sdn. Bhd.) to pay the sum of Ringgit Malaysia Four Million (RM4,000,000-00) Only on 
behalf of Comintel Sdn. Bhd. (In Liquidation) as full and final payment of the entire 
debt (“Settlement Sum”) owed by Comintel Sdn. Bhd. (In Liquidation) to Ansat 
Broadcast under the Federal Court Order dated 18 August 2017 and the High Court 
Order dated 17 April 2019. The Company filed an application in the Shah Alam High 
Court to terminate the winding-up of Comintel Sdn. Bhd. (In Liquidation) ("Application 
to Terminate Winding Up") on 10 January 2020. 
 
The Application to Terminate Winding Up is fixed for case management before the 
Senior Assistant Registrar ("Registrar") on 10 February 2020. On 10 February 2020, the 
Registrar directed that the Liquidator should expedite his report, while the next case 
management shall be on 16 March 2020 to update on the status of the Liquidator's report 
and hearing before the judge is fixed on 14 May 2020. 
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32.  MATERIAL LITIGATION (CONTINUED) 

The Registrar directed in the case management on 16 March 2020 that parties to resolve 
the issue of Liquidator's cost by 23 March 2020, written submission shall be filed to the 
Shah Alam High Court by 6 April 2020, the next case management shall be on 6 April 
2020 and hearing before the judge is rescheduled to 9 April 2020. 
 
Further to notice dated 26 March 2020 issued by the Registrar, the case management for 
the Application to Terminate Winding Up was rescheduled to 13 May 2020. 
 
On 13 May 2020, during the case management before the Deputy Registrar 
(“Registrar”), the Registrar directed that the hearing before the judge is scheduled on 17 
June 2020. 
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33. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The following table analyses the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group 
and of the Company in the statements of financial position by the classes and categories 
of financial instruments to which they are assigned by their measurement basis. 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 2020   2019  2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        
Assets        
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
       

Investments in unit trusts 11,160  24,246  8,424  21,575 
        
Financial assets at amortised 

cost 
       

Golf memberships -  343  -  - 
Trade receivables 649  757  -  - 
Other receivables and deposits 3,273  191  6,172  2,607 
Short term deposits with 

financial institutions 
 

426 
  

4,375 
  

- 
  

- 
Cash and bank balances 1,430  1,845  53  3 
 5,778  7,511  6,225  2,610 
Total financial assets 16,938  31,757  14,649  24,185 
        
Liabilities        
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 
       

Lease liabilities 923  -  -  - 
Bank borrowings 6,920  9,449  -  - 
Hire purchase payables -  86  -  - 
Trade payables -  789  -  - 
Other payables and accruals 6,387  5,093  2,287  46 
Litigation liabilities -  23,258  -  - 
Total financial liabilities 14,230  38,675  2,287  46 
        

 

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The Group and the Company have exposure to the following risks from its use of 
financial instruments: 
 
(a) Credit risk 
(b) Liquidity risk 
(c) Market risk 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments 
should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables and the Company’s exposure 
to credit risk arises primarily from loans and advances to subsidiaries and financial 
guarantees given. For other financial assets (investment in securities and cash and 
cash equivalents), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing 
exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. 
 
(i) Receivables 
 

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Normally credit evaluations are performed on 
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. As at end of the reporting 
period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is 
represented by the carrying amounts in the statements of financial position. 
 
Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are 
neither past due nor impaired are stated at their realisable values. A significant 
portion of these receivables are regular customers that have been transacting 
with the Group. 
 
When an account is more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is considered 
to have increased significantly since the initial recognition. The Group 
identifies as a default account if it is more than 90 days past due and the 
customer is having significant financial difficulties (analysed by financial 
measures of reported losses, negative cash flows, and qualitative evaluation of 
the customer’s characteristics). The Group classifies an impaired receivable 
when a customer is in default, in liquidation or other financial reorganisation. 
 
For each significant receivable that is credit-impaired, individual lifetime ECL 
is recognised using the probability of default technique. The inputs used are: 
(i) the percent chance of default, and (ii) the expected cash shortfalls. The 
lifetime ECL is measured at the probability-weighted expected cash shortfalls 
by reference to the Group’s past experience, current conditions and forecast of 
future economic benefits. 
 
For significant receivables that are not individually credit-impaired and all 
other receivables, the Group uses a provision matrix that categorise the 
different risk classes (low risk, medium risk and high risk) and the ageing 
profiles. The collective lifetime ECLs are measured based on the Group’s past 
lost rate experiences, current conditions and forecast of future economic 
conditions. The past lost rates are adjusted upward in the measurement in 
worsening current conditions and forecasts of future macroeconomic 
conditions. 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
(i) Receivables (continued) 
 

A receivable is written off only if there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. This is when an account is 365 days past due or the customer is 
experiencing significant financial difficulties, undertaking financial 
reorganisation or has gone bankrupt. 
 
Concentration of credit risk 
 
The Group assesses concentrations of credit risk by exposure to single-large 
customers, industry sectors and overseas jurisdictions. 
 
As at the end of the reporting date, the Group does not have any major 
concentration of credit risk related to any individual customer or counterparty. 
 
Past due and impaired financial assets 
 
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows: 

 
 Gross amount Impairment Net amount 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
31 January 2020    
    
Not past due 78 - 78 
    
1 to 30 days past due  554 (110) 444 
31 to 60 days past due  2 - 2 
61 to 90 days past due  91 - 91 
91 to 120 days past due  28 - 28 
More than 121 days past due  371 (365) 6 
 1,046 (475) 571 
 1,124 (475) 649 
 
31 January 2019    
    
Not past due 602 - 602 
    
1 to 30 days past due  42 - 42 
31 to 60 days past due  2 - 2 
61 to 90 days past due  206 (189) 17 
91 to 120 days past due  9 - 9 
More than 121 days past due  525 (440) 85 
 784 (629) 155 
 1,386 (629) 757 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(ii)  Financial guarantees  
 
The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of 
banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. The Company monitors on 
an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiaries and repayment made by the 
subsidiaries.  
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM6,920,000 (2019: 
RM9,701,000) representing the outstanding banking facilities of the 
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. 
 
As at end of the reporting date, there was no indication that any subsidiary 
would default on repayment. 
 
The financial guarantee has not been recognised since the fair value on initial 
recognition was not material. 
 

(iii)  Inter-company balances 
 
The Company provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiaries. The 
Company monitors the results of the subsidiaries regularly. As at the end of 
the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by its 
carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. 

   
(b) Liquidity risk 

 
The Group’s exposure to liquidity and cash flow risks arises mainly from general 
funding and business activities. 
 
Liquidity and cash flow risks are addressed by annual and continuous review and 
forward planning of cash flow in relation to business plans to ensure a balanced 
and prudent portfolio of cash and other liquid assets and credit facilities are 
maintained. Borrowings are arranged so as not to go beyond the Group’s ability to 
repay or refinance. 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the 
reporting period based on undiscounted contractual payments: 

 
  

Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
interest 

rate/coupon 

 
Contractual 
cash flows 

 
Under 1 

year 

 
 

1-2 years 

 
 

2-5 years  

 
More than 

5 years  
 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  
2020        
GROUP        
Other payables and accruals 6,387 - 6,387 6,387 - - - 
Lease liabilities 923 5.0 to 9.3% 1,462 1,417 45 - - 
Term loan 6,920 9.3% 7,560 7,560 - - - 
 14,230  15,409 15,364 45 - - 

        
COMPANY         
Other payables and accruals 2,287 - 2,287 - - - - 

        
2019        
GROUP         
Trade payables 789 - 789 789 - - - 
Other payables and accruals 5,093 - 5,093 5,093 - - - 
Litigation liabilities 23,258 8.0% 24,929 24,929 - - - 
Term loan 8,558 9.3% 9,350 9,350 - - - 
Bank overdrafts 891 8.7% 968 968 - - - 
 38,589  41,129 41,129 - - - 

        
COMPANY         
Other payables and accruals 46 - 46 46 - - - 



Registration No. 200301027648 (630068-T) 
 
 

- 85 - 

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates that will affect the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial position or cash flows. 
 
(i) Currency risk  

 
The Group is principally exposed to transactional currency risks through the purchase of materials and consumables, sales of finished 
goods, and in its financing activities that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. The currency giving rise to 
this risk is primarily the United States Dollar (“USD”), Euro Dollar (“EUR”) and Indonesia Rupiah (“IDR”). The Group monitors 
developments in Government policies and market conditions to take necessary actions should there be any indication of unfavourable 
foreign exchange movement. 
 
The financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in its functional currencies are as follows: 
 
 USD  EUR  IDR  Others  Total 
 equivalent  equivalent  equivalent  equivalent  equivalent 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
GROUP          
2020          
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 33  21 2,010 - 2,064 
Cash and cash equivalents -  - 547 - 547 
Other payables and accruals -  - (1,233) - (1,233) 
Net currency exposure 33  21 1,324 - 1,378 
         
2019          
Trade receivables -  -  350 -  350 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 9 13 2,044 - 2,066 
Cash and cash equivalents - - 1,339 - 1,339 
Trade payables - (701) - - (701) 
Other payables and accruals (1,013) - (162) (2)  (1,177) 
Net currency exposure (1,004) (688) 3,571 (2) 1,877 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Market risk (continued) 

 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
Sensitivity analysis for currency risk 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s result pre-tax 
profit or loss to a reasonably possible change in the USD, EUR and IDR 
exchange rates against the functional currencies of the Group, with all other 
variables held constant. 
 

 

  GROUP  
  2020  2019 

  RM’000  RM’000 
     
USD/ RM - strengthened 3% (2019: 3%) 1  (30) 
 - weakened 3% (2019: 3%) (1)  30 
EUR/ RM - strengthened 3% (2019: 3%) 1  (21) 
 - weakened 3% (2019: 3%) (1)  21 
IDR/ RM - strengthened 3% (2019: 3%) 40  107 
 - weakened 3% (2019: 3%) (40)  (107) 

 
(ii)  Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk 
arises from the Group’s borrowings and short term deposits. 
 
The Group’s bank borrowings are subject to the prime lending rate of the 
banks while hire purchase financing are based on fixed rates. Investments in 
financial assets are short term in nature and are mostly placed as short-term 
deposits with licensed financial institutions. 
 
Market interest rates movements are monitored with a view to ensure that the 
most competitive rates are secured and where appropriate borrowing 
arrangements and interest bearing instruments are restructured or reduced. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 
 
At the reporting date, if the interest rates had been 10 basis points higher/ 
lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s result pre-tax profit 
or loss would increase/ decrease by RM6,000 (2019: RM8,000) accordingly. 
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35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group’s primary objective in managing its capital is to maintain an adequate capital 
base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital 
management during the financial year. 
 
The Group uses the debt to equity ratio, which is total net debt divided by total equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, as the key measurement for its capital structure 
management. 
 
The debt-to-equity ratio of the Company as at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows: 
 

 GROUP 
 2020  2019 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Bank borrowings 6,920 9,449 
Hire purchase payables - 86 
Lease liabilities 923 - 
Less: Short term deposits with financial institutions (426) (4,375) 
Less: Cash and bank balances (1,430) (1,845) 
Net debt 5,987 3,315 
   
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 24,229 9,287 
   
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.25 0.36 
   

   
Under the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Practice Note No. 17/2005, the Company is 
required to maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than 25% of 
the issued and paid-up capital (excluding treasury shares) and such shareholders’ equity 
is not less RM40 million. On 28 March 2019, the Company announced that it has 
triggered the Prescribed Criteria under Paragraph 2.1(a) of PN17 and the management is 
still working on the regularisation plan. 
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36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term receivables and payables 
and short-term borrowings approximate fair values due to the relatively short-term 
nature of these financial instruments. 
 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value for which fair value 
is disclosed, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial 
position. 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period 
using 

 31.1.2020 31.1.2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Category RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      
GROUP      
Financial assets:      
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss: 

- Investments in unit 
trusts 

 
 
 
 

11,160 

 
 
 
 

11,160 

 
 
 
 

11,160 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Total financial assets 11,160 11,160 11,160 - - 
      
COMPANY       
Financial assets:      
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss: 

- Investments in unit 
trusts 

 
 
 
 

8,424 

 
 
 
 

8,424 

 
 
 
 

8,424 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Total financial assets 8,424 8,424 8,424 - - 
 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period 
using 

 31.1.2019 31.1.2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Category RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      
GROUP      
Financial assets:      
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss: 

- Investments in unit 
trusts 

 
 
 
 

24,246 

 
 
 
 

24,246 

 
 
 
 

24,246 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Total financial assets 24,246 24,246 24,246 - - 
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36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period 
using 

 31.1.2019 31.1.2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Category RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      
COMPANY       
Financial assets:      
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss: 

- Investments in unit 
trusts 

 
 
 
 

21,575 

 
 
 
 

21,575 

 
 
 
 

21,575 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Total financial assets 21,575 21,575 21,575 - - 
 
Policy of transfer between levels 
The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of 
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
 
Level 1 fair value 
Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical financial assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 fair value 
Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the financial assets or liabilities, either directly or 
indirectly. 
 
Transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values 
There has been no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values during the financial 
year (2019: no transfer in either directions). 
 
Level 3 fair value 
Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the financial assets and 
liabilities. There is no asset classified at level 3 fair value as at end of the reporting 
period (2019: nil). 
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37. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Group applied the requirements of MFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative 
effect of initial application at 1 January 2019. There are no adjustments made to the prior 
period presented. 
 
The following table presents the impact of changes to the statements of financial 
position of the Group resulting from the adoption of MFRS 16 Leases as at 1 January 
2019: 

   GROUP 
31.1.2019 
RM’000 

     
Changes 
RM’000 

    GROUP 
   1.2.2019 
   RM’000 

      
Non-current assets     
-   Right-of-use assets -  4,803 4,803 
 
Current liabilities    
-   Hire purchase payables  86  (86) - 
-   Lease liabilities -  8,930 8,930 
Total lease liabilities 86  8,844 8,930 
     
 
The impact of adoption of MFRS 16 to: 

       
 

 1.2.2019 
   RM’000 

Accumulated losses      
-   Owners of the Company     3,989 
-   Non-controlling interest    52 
    4,041 
 
(a) The right-of-use assets comprise leasehold lands and office spaces leased from 

third parties and recognised during the period. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
right-of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation, 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities.  

 
(b)  The lease liabilities arising from leasehold lands and office spaces leased from third 

parties are recognised and discounted using the Group’s weighted average 
incremental borrowing rate of between 5.0% and 9.3%. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the Group measure the lease liabilities by increasing the carrying 
amount to reflect the interest on the lease liabilities, reducing the carrying amount 
to reflect lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any 
reassessment or lease modifications. 

 
Other than the above, the Group elected to apply exemption for a lease of premises 
expiring within 12 months under the Appendix C, paragraph 10(c) of this Standard. 
The lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining lease term during the current financial year. 
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38. COMPARATIVE FIGURES  
 
Certain comparative figures for previous financial year have been restated to conform 
with current financial year’s presentation as follows:  
 
 GROUP 
 31.1.2019 
 As previously 

reported 
  

Reclassification 
 As 

restated 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Revenue 3,927  1,485  5,412 
Other income 3,099  (1,485)  1,614 
 
 COMPANY 
 31.1.2019 
  

As previously 
reported 

  
 

Reclassification 

  
As 

restated 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Revenue -  1,485  1,485 
Other income 1,492  (1,485)  7 
 
 

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  
 

(a) The Company has made a written application to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”) for an extension of time to submit its regularisation plan and on 
5 March 2020, Bursa Securities has granted the Company a further extension of 
time of up to 24 July 2020 to submit a Regularisation Plan. On 4 May 2020, the 
Company further announced that the Company is still working on the Regularisation 
Plan to regularise the condition of the Company. 
 

(b) The Company had on 21 April 2020 entered into a Supplemental Memorandum of 
Understanding with Dhaya Maju Infrastructure (Asia) Sdn Berhad and Datuk Seri 
Dr. Subramaniam A/L Sankaran Pillai to extend the terms to on or before 31 July 
2020. 

 
(c) The case management for the Application to Terminate Winding Up of a previously 

wholly-owned subsidiary, Comintel Sdn. Bhd., was rescheduled to 13 May 2020. 
On 13 May 2020, during the case management before the Deputy Registrar 
(“Registrar”), the Registrar directed that the hearing before the judge is scheduled 
on 17 June 2020. 
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39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)  
 

(d) The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic and unprecedented global crisis 
started in the first quarter of 2020. After considering the measures taken by the 
government, especially the Movement Control Order that started from 18 March 
2020, it is not possible to assess the potential financial impact on the Group’s and 
the Company’s financial statements for financial year ending 31 January 2021.  
 
The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
January 2020 have been prepared with the application of going concern principle. 
The directors and management of the Group and the Company are not aware of any 
significant uncertainties arising after the end of the financial year that would have a 
significant financial impact, including its ability to continue as going concern over 
the next twelve months. 

 

40. OTHER INFORMATION 
 

(a) The Company is an investment holding company listed on Main Market of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 

 
(b) The registered office and principal place of business is situated at:  
 

37, Jalan Pelukis U1/46 
Section U1, Temasya Industrial Park 
40150 Glenmarie Shah Alam 
Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 

(c) The financial statements of the Company are presented in Ringgit Malaysia 
(“RM”), which is also the Company’s functional currency and has been rounded to 
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 

  
 
41. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the 
Board of Directors on 9 June 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
















